#### Instructor's Manual

for

# INTERNAL FAMILY SYSTEMS THERAPY

with

RICHARD SCHWARTZ, PHD

from the series

COUPLES THERAPY WITH THE EXPERTS

with hosts

Jon Carlson, PsyD, EdD & Diane Kjos, PhD

Manual by
Charlotte Dick, MA and Victor Yalom, PhD
with Richard Schwartz, PhD



The *Instructor's Manual* accompanies the DVD *Internal Family Systems Therapy with Richard Schwartz*, *PhD* (Institutional/Instructor's Version). Video available at www.psychotherapy.net.

Copyright © 2009, Psychotherapy.net, LLC. All rights reserved.

#### Published by Psychotherapy.net

150 Shoreline Highway, Building A, Suite 1

Mill Valley, CA 94941

Email: contact@psychotherapy.net

Phone: (800) 577-4762 (US & Canada) / (415) 332-3232

**Teaching and Training:** Instructors, training directors and facilitators using the Instructor's Manual for the DVD *Internal Family Systems Therapy with Richard Schwartz, PhD* may reproduce parts of this manual in paper form for teaching and training purposes only. Otherwise, the text of this publication may not be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means—electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise—without the prior written permission of the publisher, Psychotherapy. net. The DVD *Internal Family Systems Therapy with Richard Schwartz, PhD* (Institutional/Instructor's Version) is licensed for group training and teaching purposes. Broadcasting or transmission of this video via satellite, Internet, video conferencing, streaming, distance learning courses or other means is prohibited without the prior written permission of the publisher.

Charlotte Dick, MA & Victor Yalom, PhD, with Richard Schwartz, PhD

Instructor's Manual for Internal Family Systems Therapy with Richard Schwartz, PhD

Cover design by Julie Giles

#### **Order Information and Continuing Education Credits:**

For information on ordering and obtaining continuing education credits for this and other psychotherapy training videos, please visit us at www.psychotherapy.net or call 800-577-4762.

#### Instructor's Manual for

## INTERNAL FAMILY SYSTEMS THERAPY WITH RICHARD SCHWARTZ, PHD

### **Table of Contents**

Tips for Making the Best Use of the DVD	7
Schwartz's Approach to Internal Family Systems Therapy	11
Treatment Plan for This Couple	13
Schwartz's Reflections on the Session	15
Reaction Paper Guide for Classrooms and Training	17
Related Websites, Videos, and Further Readings	19
Discussion Questions	21
Session Transcript	25
Schwartz's Approach	25
Couples Therapy Session	38
Video Credits	61
Earn Continuing Education Credits for Watching Videos	63
About the Contributors	64
More Psychotherapy net Videos	66

## Tips for Making the Best Use of the DVD

#### 1. USE THE TRANSCRIPTS

Make notes in the video **Transcript** for future reference; the next time you show the video you will have them available. Highlight or notate key moments in the video to better facilitate discussion during the video and post-viewing.

#### 2. FACILITATE DISCUSSION

Pause the video at different points to elicit viewers' observations and reactions to the concepts presented. The **Discussion Questions** provide ideas about key points that can stimulate rich discussions and learning.

#### 3. LET IT FLOW

Allow the session to play out some, rather than stopping the video often, so viewers can appreciate the work over time. It is best to watch the video in its entirety since issues untouched in earlier parts often play out later. Encourage viewers to voice their opinions; no therapy is perfect! What do viewers think works and does not work in the session? We learn as much from our mistakes as our successes, and it is crucial for students and therapists to develop the ability to effectively critique this work as well as their own.

#### 4. SUGGEST READINGS TO ENRICH VIDEO MATERIAL

Assign readings from **Suggestions for Further Readings and Websites** prior to viewing. You can also schedule the video to coincide with other course or training materials on related topics.

#### 5. REFLECT ON REFLECTIONS

Hand out copies of **Schwartz's Reflections on the Session**, giving participants a view into Schwartz's understanding of his work with these clients. Schwartz's reflections add a more in-depth perspective on the role of this session in the ongoing healing process for this couple.

#### 5. REFLECT ON REFLECTIONS

Hand out copies of **Schwartz's Reflections on the Session**, giving participants a view into Schwartz's understanding of his work with these clients. Schwartz's reflections add a more in-depth perspective on the role of this session in the ongoing healing process for this couple.

#### 6. ASSIGN A REACTION PAPER

See suggestions in Reaction Paper section.

#### 7. CONDUCT ROLE-PLAYS

After watching the video, organize participants into groups of three, so one person will play the therapist and two people will play the couple client. Assign each group to role-play a couples therapy session using Schwartz's Internal Family Systems approach. The clients may resemble the clients in the video, a current or previous real-life client, someone they know personally, or even themselves. Participants should change roles if time permits.

As a basic instruction, suggest to therapists that they begin the session by simply asking how they might be of help to both individuals, then ask follow-up questions in order to examine and identify the constraints in the couple's relationship. Next, see if each partner can identify at least one part of him- or herself that might be contributing to the identified constraints. Therapists can do this by helping the partners identify where they feel the constraint in their bodies, as Schwartz did in the video, or they can use other strategies they know to help individuals get in touch with difficult feelings. Have therapists encourage the clients to speak from their different parts, or from their *Self* about the parts they have identified.

Following the role-plays, have the groups come together to discuss the exercise. First, have the couple clients share their experiences; then ask the therapists to talk about what the session was like for them. What did participants find most useful about this way of working? What did they find most challenging? Finally, open up a general discussion on what participants learned about using an Internal Family Systems approach with couples.

An alternative is to do this role-play in front of the whole group with one therapist and two people playing a couple; the entire group can observe, acting as the advising team to the therapist. Before the end of the session, have the therapist take a break, get feedback from the observation team, and bring it back into the session with the couple. Other observers might jump in if the therapist gets stuck. Follow up with a discussion that explores what participants found useful and/or challenging about Schwartz's approach.

#### 8. WATCH THE EXPERTS SERIES

This video is one in a series portraying leading theories of psychotherapy and their application to work with couples. Each video in the series presents a master couples therapist working with a real couple who has real problems. By showing several of the videos in this Couples Therapy with the Experts series (see the More Videos section for a complete list), you can expose viewers to a variety of styles and approaches, allowing them an opportunity to see what fits best for them.

Other videos in the series use different therapeutic models to explain how couples interact and how change occurs within the couple. We can reflect upon the differences among these models by exploring how each one approaches the main objectives of couples therapy:

- removing, decreasing or modifying symptoms or problems in the relationship
- · ameliorating negative patterns of behavior
- promoting positive growth and development within the family system

#### PERSPECTIVE ON VIDEOS AND THE PERSONALITY OF THE THERAPIST

Psychotherapy portrayed in videos is less off-the-cuff than therapy in practice. Therapists may feel put on the spot to present a good demonstration, and clients can be self-conscious in front of a camera. Therapists often move more quickly than they would in everyday practice to demonstrate a particular technique. Despite these factors,

therapists and clients on video can engage in a realistic session that conveys a wealth of information not contained in books or therapy transcripts: body language, tone of voice, facial expression, rhythm of the interaction, quality of the alliance, and other aspects of *process* (as opposed to *content*) that are critical components of the therapeutic encounter. Because these process variables are so multidimensional, repeated viewings of the same session can help therapists of all levels of experience detect many different nuances of process and deepen their insight and learning.

Psychotherapy is an intensely private matter. Unlike in other professions, students and practitioners in this field rarely have an opportunity to see their mentors at work. But watching therapy on video is the next best thing.

One more note: The personal style of therapists is often as important as their techniques and theories. Therapists are usually drawn to approaches that mesh well with their own personality. Thus, while we can certainly pick up ideas from master therapists, students and trainees must make the best use of relevant theory, technique and research that fit their own personal style and the needs of their clients.

#### PRIVACY AND CONFIDENTIALITY

Because this video contains an actual therapy session, please take care to protect the privacy and confidentiality of the clients who have courageously shared their personal lives with us.

## Schwart's Approach to Internal Family Systems Therapy

Internal Family Systems Therapy applies Family Systems theory and technique not only to the interpersonal dynamics of couples and families, but also to the intrapsychic processes of individuals. Each of us is made up of numerous sub-personalities, or parts. This approach attempts to get to know each of those individually, how they work as a system, and how that system interacts with other people and other systems.

A core component of this approach is Schwartz's concept of the *Self*, which is inside each of us at our core and is never damaged. The Self is different from a person's individual parts, and is more analogous to a person's soul. The goal of therapy, according to this approach, is for an individual to build the strength of their Self and obtain self-leadership over his or her parts.

Schwartz identifies three different kinds of parts that are within every person: *Exiled* parts are created out of traumatic experiences and are parts we are afraid to look at and expose. *Managers* are parts that protect the Self from the exiled parts and keep them hidden. *Firefighters* put out strong emotions when the exiled parts get triggered, and help them stay contained.

There are over 25 different techniques identified as part of the Internal Family Systems approach. However, the model can also be used as a conceptual package and overlaid onto techniques from other approaches. For example, Internal Family Systems has been used successfully in play therapy with children, in groups, psychodrama, art therapy and EMDR.

## Treatment Plan for this Couple

In future sessions, Schwartz would continue to work with Kathy's parts to help her gain release from her fears and become more real. He would also work with Loren and his parts, particularly the wanderer part. The goal would be for each member of the couple to achieve a harmonious internal system that would allow for external harmony. Viewers may be interested to know that after this session with Schwartz, this couple went on to work with a family therapist trained in the IFS model.

### Schwartz's Reflections on the Session

While I did this work with Loren and Kathy several years ago, it holds up well as an example of IFS couples therapy and I remain grateful to them for the risks they took. I subsequently learned that they both built upon this session in their ongoing therapy to work in more depth with a number of the parts that we evoked.

My goal with most couples, as explicated in the book *You're the One You've Been Waiting For*, is to help each partner achieve a U-turn in their focus, and become the primary caretaker of their own exiled parts. When that's possible, the other partner is freed to be the secondary caretaker of those parts.

Kathy was stuck in the position of being chronically critical of Loren's wandering part but also afraid to take a firm, Self-led stance with him because the young, scared part she found was still strongly attached to her father, and to Loren as a father-surrogate. As she begins to shift that little girl's primary attachment from Loren/father to her Self, then she can step out of the critical-but-impotent position relative to his behavior and become clear, confident, and courageous toward him. This, in turn, will confront Loren with the choice of either dealing with his own exiles that drive his wandering or losing his wife.

It also illustrates the power and potential danger of doing the inner work with one partner while the other witnesses. When Kathy came back out from her inner world, Loren had moments of true empathy but also displayed several of his protector parts that tried to take care of his exiles that had been triggered by her work.

This session a good example of the patterns that emerge in many couples where one has a threatening firefighter (e.g., various addictions or acting-out behavior) and their partner's exiles are attached to him or her. Until the partner can change that attachment internally, he or she will remain in that "co-dependent" position. As addiction therapists have found, simply admonishing the co-dependent partner to get stronger doesn't work well without this kind of inner shift.

## Reaction Paper for Classes and Training

Video: Internal Family Systems Therapy with Richard Schwartz, PhD

- **Assignment:** Complete this reaction paper and return it by the date noted by the facilitator.
- Suggestions for Viewers: Take notes on these questions while viewing the video and complete the reaction paper afterwards, or use the questions as a way to approach the discussion. Respond to each question below.
- Length and Style: 2-4 pages double-spaced. Be concise. Do not provide a full synopsis of the video. This is meant to be a brief reaction paper that you write soon after watching the video—we want your ideas and reactions.

**What to Write:** Respond to the following questions in your reaction paper:

- **1. Key points:** What important points did you learn about Internal Family Systems Therapy? What stands out in how Schwartz works?
- 2. What I found most helpful: What was most beneficial to you as a therapist about the model presented? What tools or perspectives did you find helpful and might you use in your own work? What challenged you to think about something in a new way?
- 3. What does not make sense: What principles/techniques/strategies did not make sense to you? Did anything push your buttons or bring about a sense of resistance in you, or just not fit with your own style of working? Explore these questions.
- **4. How I would do it differently:** What might you have done differently from Schwartz in the therapy session in the video? Be specific in what different approaches, strategies and techniques you might have applied.
- **5. Other Questions/Reactions:** What questions or reactions did you have as you viewed the therapy in the video? Other comments, thoughts or feelings?

## Related Websites, Videos, and Further Readings

#### WEB RESOURCES

The Center for Self Leadership

www.selfleadership.org

IFS Europe

www.ifs-europe.net

IFS Israel

www.ifs-israel.org

American Association for Marriage and Family Therapy

www.aamft.org

## RELATED VIDEOS AVAILABLE AT WWW.PSYCHOTHERAPY.NET

The Angry Couple

Couples Therapy

Culture-Sensitive Therapy

Couples and Infertility

Couples Therapy for Addictions

Couples Therapy: An Introduction

Emotionally Focused Therapy

Gender Differences in Depression

Harville Hendrix on the Healing Relationship

Imago Couples Therapy

Irreconcilable Differences

#### **BOOKS**

- Goulding, R. A. and Schwartz, R. C. (2002). The mosaic mind: Empowering the tormented selves of child abuse survivors. Oak Park: Trailheads Publications.
- Schwartz, R. C. (1995). Internal family systems therapy. New York: Guilford Press.
- Schwartz, R. C. (2001). Introduction to the internal family systems model. Oak Park: Trailheads Publications.
- Schwartz, R. C. (2008). You are the one you've been waiting for: Bringing courageous love to intimate relationships.

### **Discussion Questions**

Professors, training directors and facilitators may use some or all of these discussion questions, depending on what aspects of the video are most relevant to the audience. On-screen minute markers are noted in parentheses to indicate where a topic arises in the video and transcript.

#### SCHWART'S APPROACH

- 1. The Self: What do you think about Schwartz's idea of the *Self*, which is at the core of each and every one of us, always recoverable and undamaged? How does this fit with your own experience? How do you think about this concept in relation to clients who experience severe psychosis, dissociation or other disabling mental illnesses? Do you think their undamaged self can be recovered through therapy or other means? How so?
- 2. Conceptual Package: Schwartz describes Internal Family Systems Therapy as a conceptual package that can be overlaid onto almost any technique. What kinds of techniques do you see his theory of the self and parts working well with? What kinds of techniques do you think it would not work with? How would overlaying these concepts on the techniques you currently use with clients change your way of working?

#### PSYCHOTHERAPY SESSION

- 3. Previous Therapy: Loren and Kathy frequently refer to their previous couples therapy work, and spend a lot of time analyzing each other's emotions and history. What was your reaction to this? How might you handle a couple that has therapeutic insight that may not be helpful or compatible to your way of working? How do you move a couple stuck in analyzing the past into creating solutions in the present moment?
- **4. Asking Permission:** What did you think of Schwartz asking Kathy and Loren's permission before he used certain

- techniques or interventions? How did it impact the feeling of safety in the session? How do you feel about asking permission in your work with clients? How else do you gauge whether it is okay to proceed with interventions?
- 5. Finding It: Schwartz guides Kathy in finding the feelings she is struggling with in her body, then letting those feelings speak. What other interventions might you have used to help Kathy locate her difficult feelings and put them into words?
- 6. Kathy's Time: What was your reaction to the ample space Schwartz gave Kathy to sit with her little girl part and get in touch with her feelings? In what ways was this intervention effective with her? How do you see this kind of individual intervention affecting the couple work, either positively or negatively?
- 7. Loren's Reaction: What did you think about the way Schwartz guided the session when Loren emoted about Kathy's feeling of "coming home"? If you were the therapist, how might you have worked differently with Loren than Schwartz did? Would you have wanted to explore his feelings more deeply? If so, how might you have gone about this?
- 8. Each Other's Therapist: What did you think of Schwartz advising Loren and Kathy not to talk about each other's parts and try to be each other's therapist? What factors do you consider when advising couples to either continue exploring their issues and conflicts during the week at home or wait until next week's session?

### **GROUP DISCUSSION**

- 9. Labeling Parts: Schwartz labels some of Loren and Kathy's parts as managers, firefighters, and exiles, but warns against focusing on the labeling too much. How might labeling parts of your clients be helpful in your work with them, and how might it not be helpful?
- **10. Self-Leadership:** Schwartz mentions that the goal of therapy is not behavior change, but Self-leadership. How does this sit with you and fit with your way of working with couples? Do you think positive individual growth in

- each partner is enough for couples to have positive changes in their relationship, or is something else needed?
- 11. The Model: Do you see yourself using Internal Family Systems Therapy in your own work with couples? Are there some components of this approach that you find helpful, and others that seem incompatible with how you work with clients? What in particular would you do differently from Schwartz?
- **12. Personal Reaction:** How would you feel having Schwartz as your therapist? Do you think he could build a solid therapeutic alliance with you? Would he be effective with you? Why or why not?

## Complete Transcript of Internal Family Systems Therapy with Richard Schwartz, PhD

Note to facilitators: Throughout the transcript below, we indicate onscreen minute markers that correspond with those that appear in the bottom right corner of the DVD on screen. You will find chapter markers on the DVD at five-minute intervals so that you may easily skip to desired points in the video.

#### SCHWARTZ'S APPROACH

1—1

**Jon Carlson, PsyD, EdD:** Diane, let's talk about Internal Family Systems.

**Diane Kjos, PhD:** Well, this, from my perspective, the therapist in Internal Family Systems pays attention to the internal system of each family member. That is, identifying parts and how the parts in each individual interact, both within the individual and with other members of the family. It almost seems like there's sort of like a family within each person, which would be a lot to keep track of, I would think, if you were doing family therapy.

Carlson: Yeah, I've wondered about that too. It sounds pretty complex. As I understand it, each individual carries within them a system, and it interacts with the systems of the other people in the family. And then the individual family members, as they begin to identify their parts, as well as the parts of the other people in the family, then what happens is that they begin to learn about themselves as well as about other people in the family, and then more effective communication can actually take place, and then change can take place. How does this compare to some of the other theories that we've looked at?

Kjos: Well, I certainly see family systems theory, but I also see some

pieces of psychoanalytic and object relations.

**Carlson:** Yeah. And I also see the work of people like Carl Jung and Murray Bowen. And probably even the work of Salvador Minuchin and the structural approaches. Why don't we bring out our guest, Richard Schwartz, and learn some more about this approach? Welcome, Dick.

Richard Schwartz, PhD: Thanks, Jon.

Kjos: Welcome.

**Schwartz:** Hi, Diane, thank you.

**Carlson:** Well, maybe we'll start with either the easiest or the hardest question. Just what is Internal Family Systems Theory?

**Schwartz:** Well, to put it briefly, it's an attempt to take systems thinking and some family therapy technique and apply it to intrapsychic process, some of which you were alluding to before I came out. What you're calling parts of people, which, as I think of it, are these subpersonalities that, as you also mentioned, different theorists have noticed before, like Jung and some of the object relations theories. They just use different names like internal objects or archetypes and complexes. So it's an attempt to not only understand each of those parts individually, but understand how they work as a system internally and then also how they interact as a system across people. But that's only a piece of it. I think, really, the power of the model for me is what we're going to call the self, which, it's my belief, is different from parts, and is at the core of all of us. And probably the best analogy wouldn't necessarily be an ego as much as maybe a person's soul. So a lot of this model is designed to help people access and release that self, and in that state of self-leadership, begin to not only get to know their parts but actually change them, heal them, help them transform.

**Carlson:** So the early theories were pretty much intrapsychic in psychology, and then we kind of had a revolution, which we moved to more systems theory of studying the context that individuals live. And you've kind of put those two together?

Schwartz: Yeah. That's one way to look at this, yeah—that rather

than try to integrate an intrapsychic model with an existing systems perspective, essentially what I've done is try to import systems thinking internally.

#### 1-5

**Carlson:** Yeah. Well, how did you become, or arrive at this position, this Internal Family Systems approach?

**Schwartz:** Well, we have to go back to early '80s. I was involved with a colleague, Mary Jo Barrett, in an outcomes study on bulimia and family therapy, using a structural, strategic approach. And I became frustrated at the lack of outcome I was getting in some of my clients by just reorganizing the family. We could do that, but the symptoms seemed to have a life of their own and keep on going. And so I began asking clients about what was happening that kept it going before, during, and after a binge, inside of them. And they began to talk about these parts. And at the time, I really didn't know what they were talking about. It didn't have any intuitive resonance for me. But after a while, I began to look inside myself and found that it's not just my crazy clients that have these—I've got them too. And so I really became curious. And essentially this is a client-driven model. I was taught by my clients about this inner world, and we would co-create little experiments they would go home and try and come back and tell me how it went.

**Carlson:** So in some ways they really don't need a therapist after... Are they their own therapist?

**Schwartz:** Well, that's one of the goals, is to separate the parts to the point where the self can become almost an internal family therapist.

**Carlson:** Ah, so then the dependency on the therapist kind of changes over time?

Schwartz: Yeah, I think it's different to some degree from the beginning because very often people can have some access to self from the very beginning, so that essentially the therapy is a kind of co-therapy relationship, a partnership between my self and the client's self. That in itself is a little different.

**Kjos:** So the concept of the self really is the part that kind of makes

this more unique or gives it that special...

Schwartz: Well, it's the exciting part for me.

**Kjos:** It's the most exciting, interesting piece of it, yeah.

**Carlson:** Especially within family therapy where the focus is so much on the larger context.

Schwartz: Yeah.

Kjos: Yeah.

**Schwartz:** Yeah, I think family therapists by and large have had a kind of vague philosophy that people are good and they have a lot of resources. This is a little more specific as to how do you get there and release them, I think. So.

**Kjos:** Would there be couples or families that this doesn't work with, or individuals?

**Schwartz:** Well, that's an interesting question. At this point, I cannot not use this. I don't know if that makes sense.

**Kjos:** It's all right.

Schwartz: It's the way I see people, so I can't come in and not see you as a collection of parts and a self. And because it's the way I see people, I would then use it with everybody, but there are different levels of "using it." So some people, as you'll see in the tape, we go inside on a kind of inner journey, and people are almost like they're in a trance. But it's also possible to just use the language, and that seems to free people up, too, to be able to talk about a part of them rather than all of them, feels different things.

**Carlson:** Well, how do you change your approach, then, to work with the different families?

Schwartz: Well, one of the nice things about the approach is that my goal is to release the self, as I was saying, and have more self-to-self connections among family members. Now, families will come in with all kinds of unique problems and different issues, but there are parts of them involved in maintaining all of these problems. So I find that if I can just get people to get these parts to step back and let their

selves handle each other and the problems, a lot of the problems solve themselves. So in that sense it's similar to other models that believe that people have the resources to be able to solve their own problems. And the goal of therapy is not to come in with a lot of education or interpretation, but instead to kind of clear a space where people can do that for themselves.

Carlson: So would you use the same process, then, with each family?

Schwartz: To some degree, yeah. Excuse me. The steps would be helping people identify constraints—not just these internal constraints that we're calling parts, but also constraints in their external world. I co-authored this book here, Metaframeworks, where we talk about all different levels of system and the different kind of constraints you're going to encounter. So we'll collaborate with families to try and examine where their constraints are.

1-10

**Carlson:** So is that like a first step?

**Schwartz:** Yeah, that would be a first step, I think. Come in and find the constraints. And then often they are related to parts, so the parts are activated by these external situations. And then finding those parts, getting people to start to change their relationship with them, and then releasing the self.

**Kjos:** What about cultural or language differences? How does that play in?

Schwartz: Well, I've used the model in now, and people using it have done so, with all sorts of different socioeconomic levels and cultures. There was a man who took it to Japan and was trying to introduce some Japanese people to it, and that's the first time I've heard of people really having trouble with the concept of self. I think some cultures, there's such a collectivist philosophy that the idea of being a single individual, as a separate individual, is not even in the language to some degree. So that would be a cultural difference. And ultimately they negotiated a term that seemed to work. But I think that, in a sense, it's universal, but also there are cultural differences that would cast different lights on different ways of languaging it. So I don't use

the term "parts" if people don't like that term. Some people don't. I'll use whatever term feels good to them. It could be "my different feelings" or "my different aspects of me," or "different..." So there's no imposed language in that sense.

**Carlson:** So that might be one way that you'd tailor the approach for the particular family that you're working with.

**Schwartz:** Yeah. Just whatever people feel comfortable with.

**Carlson:** Has this approach been researched? Does it have any empirical evidence supporting it?

**Schwartz:** No, I'm afraid not. There were various times when I was at IJR that we'd start projects—The Institute for Juvenile Research.

Carlson: Okay.

**Schwartz:** And for one reason or another, the projects kind of died out. There are a couple projects in the works now, but, you know, since I don't really have any results, I won't even mention them. But I've been attempting to, so.

**Carlson:** And so the research is more the research that you'd come up with by watching people change, since you said we don't have empirical evidence yet.

**Schwartz:** Yeah, I mean, I'd like to call it research. Some people would, some people wouldn't. But there is a lot of anecdotal evidence. And the other evidence is clients really seem to like it. They really seem to like it.

**Kjos:** So what do you... You talked a little bit about working on some things. What do you see in terms of future developments, or...?

**Schwartz:** Well, there are a variety of projects underway. Again, I don't want to mention them until there's more to talk about. But where I'm moving is in a number of ways. There's a technique we've just developed to better incorporate family-of-origin kinds of sculptures within these parts, with the parts and where they get activated. For example...

**Carlson:** Is there a parallel between your internal family and your external family?

Schwartz: To a certain degree there are some parallels. I don't want to overplay that. But it's possible, for example, to set things up where you have people in a group playing members of your family of origin and feeding you the messages that you got from those people, and then seeing, as you hear those messages, what happens to your body, what parts of you get activated, and then going in and finding out what those parts want to say to that person. And then speaking for those parts, and then seeing how that changes the part. And then it's also then possible to go inside and work directly with the part. So that's a more direct tie-in to some aspects of family therapy, for example.

**Carlson:** That sounds pretty creative. Are there other techniques or interventions that stand out as you think about this approach?

**Schwartz:** Well, at this point, we're cataloging maybe 25 different techniques—

Carlson: Oh, my.

Schwartz: —that are specific to the approach. But the model itself is really the conceptual package, and it can be overlaid onto almost any kind of technique. And in fact, in our annual conference, a lot of the presentations are around IFS with group therapy, IFS with EMDR, IFS with all kinds of different techniques. So some people mistake the technique that I typically use with the model, but it's really just one of any number of things you can do: IFS with art therapy, IFS with psychodrama, etc.

1-15

**Kjos:** Because I was wondering, going to ask about groups. It is being used with groups and...?

**Schwartz:** Yeah, a number of people use it very effectively with groups, and there are some ways to tailor it to that.

**Kjos:** What about children, if you're doing family therapy—how well does it work there?

**Schwartz:** It's funny. Kids are less socialized away from their parts. So very often, and we'll use play therapy technique and draw your part and talk to it, or puppets, and talk to the puppet. And kids...

Carlson: They're not that inhibited like us.

**Schwartz:** No. Kids really get into it and they can tell you all about their parts. People are often amazed when they just start to ask that question, how much comes out of a kid. How much they already know about it.

**Carlson:** Yeah. I noticed some of the techniques that you would use things like, that I found really surprising, things like guided imagery and almost a hypnosis meditation that you used in your sessions, some of Minuchin's boundary markings.

**Schwartz:** Yeah, that's basically what I've done, is take aspects of structural family therapy, creating these boundaries internally, and...

Carlson: Not externally like Minuchin.

Schwartz: Both. Both.

Carlson: Yeah.

Schwartz: Yeah. But he was good at creating them externally. I've tried to do the same internally and understand the structure of this internal system. Now, when I first started working with intrapsychic systems like this, I was just using structural. But I, over time, came to see the importance of a person's history on their parts system, and the, what I call "burdens" that people pick up over the course of their life, which are extreme beliefs and feelings, emotions, that come from the outside world—from their families, for example. So that it's no longer ahistoric. I mean, we do a lot of getting to parts, asking where they're stuck in the past, asking what kind of story they need to show about the past. And people will spend time actually witnessing scenes from their past. And once that's happened, these parts can unload these energies that they carry, that they've picked up from the outside.

Carlson: Examples of parts, or, can you give us a couple?

Schwartz: Well, yeah. It's my belief that, unlike some other theories, that parts are good things to have, and there aren't any bad ones, and that they're with us from birth, in potential or in reality, and that they're there for good reason. They're there to help us in our life. And they all have talents and qualities to lend, but that they get off their

course through the events that happened to us, and get forced into these extreme roles. So if I give examples, then I'm really just talking about the common roles that the parts get forced into by trauma, which doesn't speak to what the part will become once it's released from those roles, and I want to make that distinction clear. But some common sets of roles would include, well, we all have parts that hold sensations, memories, feelings from events we'd rather forget, from bad things that happen to us. And they tend to be locked away inside—we try to stay away from those parts as best we can for a variety of reasons. And so we call those the exiles—the parts that are put in these inner jails and closets.

**Carlson:** The ones that we're afraid to open, like Pandora's box, for fear of what might happen.

**Schwartz:** For fear of being pulled back into the past.

Carlson: Sure.

**Schwartz:** And being drowned in all that emotion. And then there's another set of parts that try to run our lives such that those exiles never get upset. And they'll try to organize our external life and control our external life.

**Kjos:** Keep everything in order.

**Schwartz:** Keep everything under control and in order, don't get too close to anybody, try to look perfect, perform perfectly. Those are the parts that we generally are hearing from as we...

Carlson: Do they have a name, too?

**Schwartz:** We call them the managers.

**Kjos:** So they kind of have learned from the exiles. Would that be...? Or they're kind of watching...

**Schwartz:** No, they're really trying to, they're trying to protect the exiles and also protect the system from the exiles.

Kjos: Okay.

**Schwartz:** Keep the exiles contained. Because if something negative were to happen, or similar to the trauma in the external world, it

would trigger one of these exiles and the exile could then take over. So the managers are trying to prevent that.

Carlson: Okay.

1-20

Schwartz: Now, the world has a way of breaking through and triggering exiles no matter how good our managers are. So there's another set of parts I call firefighters because it's as if they go into action to put out the fire of emotion that starts to build when the exiles start to get upset. And they'll do it in a variety of ways, and they're always very impulsive and frantic. And in some of our clients, maybe they'll use drugs or alcohol or sex or food or something like that. And me it's work or food or... But we all have firefighter activities that we call upon to try to contain the exiles, also, when they've gotten a little bit upset.

**Carlson:** In some ways this is kind of a very friendly change in some of Freud's original looks at the inside of people

Schwartz: Yeah.

**Carlson:** Much more usable from my point of view.

**Schwartz:** I think it's very user-friendly. I mean, the language—people automatically know what you're talking about.

Carlson: Yeah, the language, sure. Regardless of their education level.

Schwartz: Absolutely, yeah. People seem to take to the language very easily. And also, opposed to Freud, it's very optimistic about people. It says that, at our core, we're not this collection of impulses and nasty things—that there's this self that hasn't been damaged, that's just automatically there, even in our most disturbed clients.

**Kjos:** So you identified the three types of parts. Is that...?

**Schwartz:** Those are three groups, common groups of parts.

**Kjos:** Groups. Common groups.

**Schwartz:** Within each group I could tell you... And again, it's just the roles the parts are forced into.

Kjos: Right, yeah.

**Schwartz:** I could tell you more specifically, there are common... There's common managers, there are about seven or eight of those kind. Common firefighters, etc. So.

Carlson: Is this like Sybil, that there's 28 different personalities?

**Schwartz:** Some people have... No, it is like Sybil in the sense that I believe we're all multiple personalities. Not that we all have multiple personality disorder, but that the difference between someone who carries that label and us is largely because of what happened to those people when they were very young, and their parts became much more isolated and separated so that when they take over, it's very dramatic. There's a big discontinuity from the rest of the system.

Carlson: I see.

**Schwartz:** Whereas when ours shift around, there is less so, because they're more interwoven.

**Kjos:** They're more integrated.

Schwartz: They're more integrated. And because for people who were hurt that badly, their self, what I'm calling the self, which really provides the backdrop to our experience, we have different parts coming and going, but there's a sense of continuity because my self is in my body and it's the backdrop.

**Kjos:** It's still there.

**Schwartz:** It's still there. With people who are severely traumatized, their parts have tried to protect their self so that their self is, they'll describe it as being out of their body, which is why you get these out-of-body experiences.

**Carlson:** So in some way that's like, well like orchestras, and we have all these parts, and if we're working well, the parts play together. But somebody like a multiple personality disorder just plays a series of solos, is what it sounds like.

**Schwartz:** Exactly, yeah. There's a lot of disharmony in such a symphony.

**Carlson:** Yeah. In a minute, we're going to watch your work, and we're going to watch a very interesting interview. What were your goals as

you met with this couple? Just what were you trying to accomplish, Dick?

**Schwartz:** Well, let me think about it. My goal was initially just to see what they wanted to have happen, and then as they described... You know, initially, I asked about different parts of them and how they played with each other.

Carlson: And that's examining and identifying these constraints?

**Schwartz:** These constraints, yeah. And they came up with a collection of them, and then the interview started to focus on Loren's, the man's. firefighter, which is the one that he called the wandering part, I think—the one that looked at other women—which is typically a firefighter; that's why I said that.

Carlson: Okay.

**Schwartz:** So then it shifted back to Kathy's feelings about that part and how oppressing it was of her because she was constantly afraid of crossing him, because that would trigger this part. So at that point...

Carlson: So you're defining the parts, too.

**Schwartz:** So his firefighter seemed like a big constraint. It was sitting on her being able to be herself. So once that became clear, then to release the constraint, we started to work with her fear about that firefighter.

**Carlson:** And so that was the goal, then, was to...?

**Schwartz:** To help her take care of the part of her that was so afraid of losing him.

Kjos: Yeah.

Carlson: Okay.

1-25

**Schwartz:** So then she wouldn't be so devastated by this wandering part.

Carlson: So that kind of releases herself. Okay.

Schwartz: Yeah. Because it's covered with this fear. Her self has been

covered and constrained by that fear. And then, in turn, we'd need to work with—we didn't get to it—but work with...

Carlson: Work with him.

**Schwartz:** Firefighter. But he was pretty articulate about...

Carlson: Which is where the systems part comes in.

**Schwartz:** Exactly. He was pretty articulate about how that firefighter tries to take care of the part of him that feels so scared and lonely when she cuts him off. So that's how you have that system operating.

**Kjos:** Now, what was your role, or what should our viewers be looking for in terms of what you're doing during this process?

Schwartz: As I said, initially, I'm trying to stay myself. And when I can lead from myself, I'll come across in a relatively nonjudgmental, curious way. And when that's happening, people start to talk about these different parts of them pretty easily. So initially I'm trying to create that sense, that I'm here in this, with this energy that's very safe, and this is a place where I'm not going to let either of you hurt each other, but in the process we can find out what's in your way. And with that kind of frame, then, I'll start asking questions, both about external constraints—we didn't do much of that because I didn't have much time, but typically I do a lot more questions about...

**Carlson:** So you're more active, maybe, than in this interview, at other times?

Schwartz: I'm pretty active, but I'd be asking a lot more about their outside world than I had a chance to today, because I want to know first about how much room they have to change, how much all their family members are interfering or constraining at that level. But, and then I'll start asking about the parts of them that are polarized with each other, which is how I'd start to talk about, "What do you do when you fight," for example. And you'll hear this part takes over and then triggers this part over here, and then that triggers this, and back and forth. And then, typically, I'll ask, "What do you want to change about that? What would it be like? Give me a vision of what it looks like when you're not that way, when these parts aren't in the way, when you're yourselves with each other." And then we get a sense of what

parts they want to be in the process of change with.

Carlson: Okay. Is there anything else you'd like our audience to look

at as we move on to an example of Internal Family Systems?

Schwartz: Let's see. I can't think of anything right now.

Carlson: Well, let's get into it, then.

Schwartz: Great, great.

Carlson: Thanks.

# COUPLES THERAPY SESSION

2-1

**Schwartz:** So. Loren and Kathy, it's really, I'm really glad that you chose to do this tonight. And talking up until now, you've told me that you've been in therapy for a while and that it seems to be helping, and you've got a couple kids and that's about all I know. So how can I be helpful to you tonight, do you think?

**Loren:** Well, you can be helpful to us by enlightening us upon the information or knowledge that you might have to enhance our relationship.

**Schwartz:** Okay. How about for you? Is there anything more specific than that?

**Kathy:** I'd like to talk about how things that really bother me in my marriage, how they may relate to my childhood or how I raise my children. I think that it's playing a big part, just by the therapy that I was in, things that maybe are coming up for me from my childhood.

**Schwartz:** From your childhood. Okay.

Kathy: Yeah.

**Schwartz:** Well, let's start with what you started with, which are things about the marriage that bother you. Can you give me a couple of those?

**Kathy:** Yeah, I could give you a couple of those. There are some that are right on the tip of my tongue. My husband and I have this ongoing problem with our home and who takes care of the home. And we're

basically pretty traditional. He takes out the garbage, I do the dishes. We're a very traditional couple. However, when it comes to maybe yard work, things like that, he really doesn't want any part of it, where I would think this is a traditional role—"you should do it." But it's not important to him, so it would go for weeks on end. And something that I've touched on in my own therapy, that because I grew up in an environment where things were not neat, and it was embarrassing to me as a child, it's very important to me. I always thought, "Well, when I grow up, I'm going to have a nice house, and I'm going to have nice things." And when it doesn't happen for me—I'm grown up now, but it's not happening for me. And I blame him for that. And I feel a knot in my stomach every time I'm cutting the grass and things aren't looking the way I would want them to look and I'm not getting any help. So.

**Schwartz:** Okay. So you get the knot in your stomach. And then what happens after that? What do you do?

**Kathy:** Usually nag about probably something else, but not really getting in touch with what's really bothering me. I'll sort of be nagging at something else. Or he'll come home from skiing and I'll think that it's because he want skiing that I'm mad. I'm sure there's a, there's a tie-in. Like, "Well, hey, maybe you should have helped me before you went skiing, or..." So that's where I'm...

**Schwartz:** So you'll complain somehow to Loren about something that you think is probably not related but seems important at the time.

Kathy: Right.

**Schwartz:** Okay. And when Kathy does that, what do you wind up doing?

2-5

**Loren:** Probably saying, "Why are you whining? What's the real problem? Let's take it to a deeper level." That we've had some therapy and we've had some information that's helped us a lot. We're working on what's really the issue. It's not just "Why aren't you cutting the grass," but... So.

Schwartz: So you'll say, "Wait a minute, what's really going on here?"

Is that right? Is that...

**Loren:** Yeah. Yeah. I used, I started off to say, "Why are you whining? You know, why are you crabbing and bitching?" And now we're able to go a little deeper and...

Schwartz: I see.

**Loren:** And get the real answers and real problems on the table.

Schwartz: So before, you would get defensive and angry and—

Loren: Absolutely.

**Schwartz:** —yell back, or something.

Loren: Now I know there's something underlying besides, "Why aren't

you cutting the grass?"

Schwartz: Does that sound right to you?

Kathy: Yes. However...

Schwartz: Yeah?

Loren: What? Is that bothering you?

Kathy: Yeah—

Loren: Okay, I'm sorry.

**Kathy:** —your shoes are squeaking.

**Schwartz:** Is there something underlying that bothering?

Loren: Why does it bother you that my shoes are squeaking?

**Kathy:** Because I know that we're on tape, and I know...

**Schwartz:** That the mics pick it up.

Kathy: That the mics are picking it up. You know, I have some

experience with this stuff.

**Schwartz:** That's a good underlying reason.

Loren: I was going to wear my work clothes here because I'm pretty

comfortable, but she thought it was a bad idea.

Schwartz: Uh-huh.

**Kathy:** So anyway. It irritates me when he does that—when he says, "What's the deeper level? What's the deeper level?"

**Schwartz:** It feels like he's trying to be your therapist or something?

Kathy: Yeah. It's irritating.

Schwartz: Okay.

**Kathy:** And sometimes I can't get in touch with the deeper level. You know, I don't have that expertise at that time, and it's irritating when he'll ask me that.

**Schwartz:** Okay. So when you get irritated by that, what do you wind up doing?

**Kathy:** Tuning it out. You know, just maybe changing the subject or going to read a book or flip the TV on.

Schwartz: Okay. So then-

Kathy: When I really... I'm sorry.

Schwartz: It's okay.

**Kathy:** When I realize that I cannot think what the deeper problem is and he doesn't want to discuss the little issue that I brought up, and I realize we're at a deadlock, and I wait to go to therapy at the end of the week.

**Schwartz:** And then you bring it up in therapy. So you'll have a kind of cold war until then.

Kathy: Right.

Schwartz: At least a distance for a while. Yeah.

**Loren:** That stinks because I feed off of love and compassion, and a lot of times I have to wait until the issue gets on the table in therapy to get the answers before I feel some love and compassion. And I need that, that's really big for me.

**Schwartz:** So when Kathy kind of shuts you out that way, what happens to you, Loren, at that point? What happens inside of you?

**Loren:** I get angry. I get defensive. I start looking at other women. Let's see.

Schwartz: Has that been an issue in your relationship?

Kathy: Yes, it has.

**Schwartz:** Okay. Is it still, or not so much?

**Kathy:** I think that... I think it's not brought up, but it's something that I think about, that I think that he's capable of if he were unhappy.

**Schwartz:** Okay. So you worry sometimes about it—whether or not he's happy enough, or making him too unhappy that he might start doing that again.

Kathy: Right. Right.

**Schwartz:** Okay. Okay. So when you feel cut off like that, it triggers a lot of emotions, it sounds like.

Loren: Yeah. Yeah. A lot.

**Schwartz:** And then there's a part of you that starts to think, "Well, if she's not going to be there for me, I'll find somebody else"? Something like that?

**Loren:** Well, I... My eyes wander more than when I'm happy. And that cutting off brings me back to my childhood.

Schwartz: I see.

**Loren:** I was cut off as a child by my brothers and sisters. So. It's kind of like a double whammy.

**Schwartz:** So it feels like you're stuck back there again at that time.

Loren: Right.

**Schwartz:** So whenever you see this cold part of Kathy, the one that really can shut you out, it triggers this part of you that feels so desperately alone and lonely and cut off and... Is that right?

Loren: Yes.

2-10

**Schwartz:** And then that triggers a part of you that starts looking around, got to find somebody to take care of this loneliness.

Loren: Oh, I'm... You know... I'm not living in a happy zone, and it

just, you know, creates different feelings, you know?

**Schwartz:** Okay. So how would it be for you, Loren, if even when this cold part of her came out, you didn't feel that so much, so bad? You didn't feel so...

Loren: How would that feel? That would feel great.

Schwartz: That would be something you would like?

**Loren:** That would feel very, you know, very warm. That would feel good.

Schwartz: I mean, even if she was cold, you could take care of that yourself—that would feel better to you?

Loren: If she was cold? I don't understand the question.

**Schwartz:** Yeah. So if she got irritated and cut you off, and instead of feeling so lonely and being pulled back into your past, you just said to yourself, "Well, she's in that part, I'll just give her some space and I'll be okay," and it didn't have this big churning inside?

**Loren:** I'm trying to work on that rejection piece of me that was in my childhood, that when I feel it I can, you know, pull that aside, that rejection aside, and work on that feeling in a more mature way.

**Schwartz:** Okay. And how that's been going?

Loren: It's been going pretty good.

Schwartz: Yeah?

Loren: Yeah. I like it. What?

**Kathy:** Nothing.

**Loren:** It's something new to her because I went to therapy by myself in the last session and I got a lot of insight and information. It's been helpful.

**Schwartz:** Oh, so this is pretty new, this thing you're trying to do here.

**Kathy:** That's what I giggled about, because it's like... "How does it feel?" And it's been two days.

**Loren:** This rejection piece... because she's a little shocked.

**Schwartz:** So you're waiting to see the results here. Okay. So you get cold and withdraw, and wait for the therapy session to start. Okay.

Kathy: Right.

**Loren:** When we should be working on it, that we're trying, and being cold should be a little bit in the past because I feel we're a little bit above and beyond that, so... I don't know why.

**Kathy:** But I can't turn my emotions on and off.

Schwartz: Yeah.

Kathy: Like he would like me to.

Schwartz: Yeah.

**Kathy:** I think that he came from a kind of family where everything's good all the time, you know? "You don't talk about these things. We are, you know, we're okay." And you know, if you have problems, you certainly don't discuss it. You bury it. And how I'm feeling in this relationship is that I can't have normal human emotions—that's not okay, you know? I've learned to hide them, bury them, because, "Hey, people are happy all the time. What is the problem? What's your problem?"

**Schwartz:** So there's a part of Loren that says that when he sees you upset.

Kathy: Oh, yeah. Oh, sure.

**Schwartz:** That he picked up from his family.

Kathy: Sure. Yeah, he carries that persona.

**Schwartz:** Okay. Would you agree with that, Loren?

**Loren:** Yeah. I saw a lot of that, "Don't talk about issues, just bury everything with work, food, stuff like that."

**Schwartz:** So you would agree that when Kathy gets upset somehow, that that triggers that part of you?

**Loren:** I feel we're a little bit above and beyond that. We have been keeping the lines of communication pretty open and things are better. I feel better. She... Obviously we're not on the same page quite yet.

Kathy: No.

**Schwartz:** So you would say that you still get more of that than you'd like.

Kathy: Yeah. I'll just give you a little example. I knew something was bothering me so I thought, "I'll do a fast. And I won't use food anymore to cover what I'm feeling." A little experiment I was doing. So I warned him: "I'm not going to be real pleasant this week because I'm trying to get in touch with something. And just bear with me." Well, by about the second day, he couldn't continue that. He was just... "What's your problem? What's the real problem?" Well, I was trying to find it, you know? And I needed that space. But that's... So I don't really think we're on that same page he's talking about when...

2-15

Schwartz: Okay. But that's a little different—

Kathy: When I want to get in touch, or...

**Schwartz:** So you feel like it's hard for you to have some space or privacy?

**Kathy:** Just some time to be, you know, in those feelings. In a bad feeling. You know, trying to get to the bottom of why I'm feeling a certain way, you know?

Schwartz: Okay.

**Kathy:** And he wants it fixed immediately. And that's not always possible. So I'm wondering if I'm putting on some sort of little happy act just to pacify him so I can maybe figure it out on my own, or...

**Schwartz:** Okay. So you've gotten to the point where you feel like you aren't real a lot of the time, it sounds like.

**Kathy:** Oh, yeah. Right, because of the situation we talked about—because he came from a place of, "Everything's okay all the time." So I put myself in that "everything's okay" when I'm maybe around him.

**Loren:** But you've also said that you wear a lot of masks and, you know, you don't want to wear those masks anymore.

Kathy: Right.

**Schwartz:** That's just what I was going to ask, Loren. So it sounds like Loren is saying he's working on trying to be more available and less reactive to you, and it doesn't sound like you believe that he's totally there yet. But it also sounds like it's still really hard for you to trust that and to let your guard down.

Kathy: Right. Right.

**Schwartz:** Okay. So do you think that you probably could do more than you are, but you're still a little bit afraid to, or...?

**Kathy:** I don't feel I have the safe place to do that, no.

Schwartz: What do you...

**Kathy:** I feel safe when I go to therapy. That's why everything comes out there. That's why I wait till the end of the week. I feel a sense of safety there that I don't have at home.

**Schwartz:** Okay. And what do you feel would happen if you were more real? What kind of danger...

Kathy: He would be unhappy.

Schwartz: And what would be bad about that?

Kathy: He may wander.

**Schwartz:** Ah. Okay. So this wandering part of Loren is—

Kathy: Very real.

**Schwartz:** —sitting with a big, heavy weight, and it keeps you in fear.

**Kathy:** It's very real.

**Schwartz:** Okay. Okay. You're smiling.

Loren: Ah, this has been going on. She's been saying how, in therapy, she doesn't like to live with these masks on, and she wants to take them all off and be herself, but I'm waiting for that. And she's saying that she's going to, probably it's gonna make me unhappy, and I'm curious as to what it is that's why I'm smiling.

**Schwartz:** Okay. We've got maybe half an hour left and there are a number of different possibilities in terms of what we could do. I've heard about a number of different parts of each of you so far, like

there's a part of you that looks around at other women, and there's this piece of you that gets called that gets so lonely and scared when you get cut off, right? And there's some anger you talked about earlier, too. And then for you, there's the one that cuts him off, and also a part of you that tries to pretend that everything's okay to placate him so that he doesn't get upset. And then I also can hear there's an angry part of you about that, and about having to live with the fear of him wandering. Does that sound right?

Kathy: Yeah, that does.

Schwartz: Okay. All right. Now, there's ways I have of helping people with these parts so that they're not in their way quite so much, or to find out at least more about what is going on that they keep popping up. And there's also ways that when you want to talk to each other directly, I can help you keep it yourselves rather than these different parts popping up. Do you follow what I'm saying? So there's a kind of connection between you while you talk about even difficult issues. Do you have a sense of which you'd rather do in the next 25 minutes?

Kathy: I'll let you pick.

### 2-20

**Loren:** Any help is.... Anything, anything. Like I say, the best thing you can give us is, for me, anyway, is just the information to enhance our relationship.

Schwartz: All right, how about you, Kathy?

**Kathy:** I'll go along with whatever the feeling of the best way to go here is.

**Schwartz:** Okay. How would it feel to actually talk to each other about an issue right now?

**Kathy:** That would feel okay. **Loren:** Talk about what issue?

**Schwartz:** Whatever issue feels pressing to you right now.

Kathy: We'll talk about that one, because that one's nice and pressing.

Schwartz: Which one?

Loren: The grass?

**Kathy:** How the grass looks greener on the other side—that one?

**Schwartz:** The wandering part.

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: Okay. We'll start with that. Is that okay with you?

Loren: It's fine.

**Schwartz:** All right. **Loren:** I'll roll with it.

**Schwartz:** And will you give me permission when I see these parts of you starting to pop up as you talk to each other about this, to blow the whistle and stop the action and have you each get them to step back so you can...

Loren: Take a step back?

**Schwartz:** Yeah, get some of these emotions that get in your way to step back a little bit so you can hang in there with each other.

Loren: All right.

Schwartz: Do I have that permission?

Loren: Sure.

Kathy: Mm-hmm.

Schwartz: It's okay with you?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: Okay. All right. So. You're the one who brought it up. Do

you want to begin?

Kathy: All right. And how would you like me to do that?

**Schwartz:** I'd like you to just begin to talk about the way you feel about that part of Loren and the effect it has on you. And Loren, I'd like you to, just as best you can, to listen.

Loren: Okay.

Schwartz: Okay.

**Kathy:** That affects me, I guess, a lot deeper than I even thought. These things, just this whole situation here, going on to that subject, something we haven't even touched on in therapy is interesting to me. Why now? But I think that maybe that's why I am finding hard to be totally myself, because what if totally myself wouldn't make you happy? And if you were not happy, I know what happens when you're not happy.

Loren: Well, would you like to try it?

Kathy: I don't feel that safety. I don't feel that sense of safety.

Schwartz: Right now you don't feel that?

Loren: You don't feel safe in being yourself.

**Kathy:** No. I don't feel safe.

Schwartz: Right now, Kathy, you don't feel it, or ...?

Kathy: Right now I feel safe.

Schwartz: Okay.

**Kathy:** Talking.

**Schwartz:** You mean at home.

Kathy: I don't... Yeah, and just in my life in general. So. I seem to have

a sense of safety when I have a...

**Schwartz:** Third party around.

**Kathy:** A third party to basically hold my hand in it. I feel that sense of safety.

**Loren:** Feel vulnerable at home and a little insecure that you can't be yourself, and you would like to have that? In our relationship?

**Kathy:** I'm wondering if it's that I can't be myself or that I don't feel real safe. What I'm feeling right now is a sense of that I don't feel safe and also... I'm wondering if... I'm feeling maybe you, if you're having a hard time, even if it didn't relate to me, that I don't feel safe. If something's happening in your life and if things are not going well, if things are...

**Schwartz:** So even if you were perfect...

**Kathy:** Even if I were perfect, I'm feeling that, I'm feeling helpless.

**Schwartz:** You're worried about that part of him.

**Kathy:** Yeah. Yeah. Just things in life that happen. Just things in life, the birth of our children was too much. When things get too much, he...

Schwartz: He wanders.

**Kathy:** Yeah. Yeah. And I'm thinking that the reason why I don't feel safe is because a life is long and lots of things happen in your life. We go through many stages. And...

**Schwartz:** Okay. Take a second now, and as you've been thinking about this, talking about this, I'd like you to just focus in on your body and see where this part of you that's so afraid seems to be in your body.

**Kathy:** I'm feeling it here.

Schwartz: Yeah.

**Kathy:** I'm feeling it in—what would that be—your third chakra. What holds... what's there?

2-25

**Schwartz:** Yeah. Don't try to think about it right now, I'd like you to just focus down there for a second.

Kathy: All right.

**Schwartz:** Just focus your attention down in that fearful part of you down there. Okay?

**Kathy:** Yeah, seems to be resonating right here.

Schwartz: And how are you feeling toward that part of you?

Kathy: Feels... Feels closed. Doesn't feel open.

Schwartz: How do you feel toward it?

Kathy: How do I feel toward it? Almost like a fight.

Schwartz: Like you're fighting it?

Kathy: Yeah.

**Schwartz:** Okay. Could you find the part of you that's trying to fight

it?

**Kathy:** It's right here.

Schwartz: And ask it to step back for a second?

Kathy: Okay.

Schwartz: Okay? And how do you feel toward it now, down in there?

**Kathy:** The fight is a little less.

Schwartz: Yeah?

**Kathy:** Little less, yeah. I don't know if because I opened my eyes, but the fight seems a little less.

the fight seems a fittle less.

Schwartz: Okay, and how are you feeling toward that fear in your gut?

**Kathy:** It seems to be okay. It seems to be okay if I remove my head.

**Schwartz:** The one that's fighting it. Yeah.

Kathy: Yeah.

**Schwartz:** All right. And ask that scared part in there what it wants you to say for it right now, to Loren or to... Or let you just, let it take over. Let's see what it needs to say, either to you or to him.

**Kathy:** That it wants to open up. It's... It's saying, "Please, don't be afraid, just let me open up."

Schwartz: Yeah. Yeah. Okay.

Kathy: That it feels afraid.

Schwartz: It's afraid right now?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: Yeah. Is that okay?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: Okay. It's okay? Can you see this part of you right now,

or...?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: What's it look like?

Kathy: Like a little girl.

Schwartz: About how old, would you say?

Kathy: About eight.

Schwartz: Eight. And how do you feel toward her right now? You're

feeling her feelings, huh? Is that okay?

Kathy: Yeah, it's okay.

Schwartz: Okay. How do you feel toward her, though?

Kathy: How do I feel towards her?

Schwartz: Yeah.

Kathy: I feel sad for her.

Schwartz: Can you show her that you feel sad for her, you feel sorry

for her?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: How does she react?

Kathy: Comforted.

Schwartz: Good. She's feeling better?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: That's good. It's okay that Loren helps you that way?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: Okay, good. But she's got a lot of fear, huh?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: Okay.

Kathy: Yeah.

**Schwartz:** Yeah. Do you understand why she's so frightened?

Kathy: Because she doesn't trust.

Schwartz: Yeah?

Kathy: She doesn't trust.

Schwartz: No?

Kathy: No.

Schwartz: And she doesn't even trust you?

**Kathy:** She trusts me. **Schwartz:** She does.

**Kathy:** But that's why she's afraid: because she doesn't trust.

Schwartz: I see. Okay.

Kathy: She doesn't feel supported.

**Schwartz:** Ah. By the people around her?

**Kathy:** Yeah. She just doesn't trust. She doesn't trust in... She doesn't trust in the people around her, she doesn't trust in the universe, she just doesn't trust.

**Schwartz:** Okay. But she does trust you right now.

Kathy: She's... She's learning to.

Schwartz: Yeah?

Kathy: She's learning to because you know, she didn't trust me.

Schwartz: She didn't before, huh? No.

Kathy: No.

**Schwartz:** Okay. But she can trust you a little bit now?

Kathy: A little.

**Schwartz:** Yeah. And are you still, are you touching her, or what are you doing?

2-30

What's happening now, Kathy?

Kathy: She's gone off.

Schwartz: She did?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: How come?

Kathy: She left. It maybe got too scary.

Schwartz: Did it? Okay. Do you want to see if she'll come...

**Kathy:** As soon as outside forces, you know, as soon as I pay attention to what's going on around me.

0.0

Schwartz: Yeah.

Kathy: I lose contact.

Schwartz: Okay.

**Kathy:** I lose the connection.

**Schwartz:** Okay. Okay. How are you feeling right now?

**Kathy:** I'm feeling okay. **Schwartz:** You're okay?

Kathy: Yeah.

**Schwartz:** See if she'll come back just for a second, just long enough, and we can find out a little more of what she would like from Loren, if she's up for talking about that.

**Kathy:** There was something that maybe I need to address, because what happens is, what happens is when I'm getting really in touch with that, I always let outside influences come in, and then I worry about things like my grass, I worry about, is my makeup running? And it throws me away from...

**Schwartz:** So you get distracted.

Kathy: I get distracted. Right.

Schwartz: Okay.

Kathy: And I think that that was...

Schwartz: That's what happened? Yeah.

Kathy: Yeah.

**Schwartz:** So see if you can find the part that distracted you.

**Kathy:** That part of how I appear.

**Schwartz:** Yeah. Where is that one in your body?

Kathy: That one's low.

**Schwartz:** So focus on it, and just tell it that you understand it's trying to protect you, but see if it's willing to step back also, and let that little girl come back for a second. Not for a real long time, but just for a little while.

Kathy: Okay. Okay.

Schwartz: Okay? Is she back?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: Okay. And how are you relating to her right now?

**Kathy:** I'm... Trying to get a real strong feeling there again.

Schwartz: Okay.

**Kathy:** Feeling of safety.

**Schwartz:** Trying to help her feel safe?

Kathy: Mm-hmm.

**Schwartz:** Is it working at all?

Kathy: Just a little.

**Schwartz:** Little bit? Okay. Maybe you can ask her how you can help her feel safer right now—what would help. You getting anything?

Kathy: Yeah.

**Schwartz:** What'd she say?

**Kathy:** She... She said... Stop trying to please everybody else and just

take care of me.

**Schwartz:** Okay. And what did you say to that?

**Kathy:** I agreed.

2-35

**Schwartz:** Did you? Is that something you really think you could do? Or at least try to do? Yeah. Does that help her to hear that you're going to try and do that? Yeah. Good. What's happening now, Kat?

**Kathy:** I'm just making that connection with myself and letting me be there.

Schwartz: Good. That feels good? Okay.

**Kathy:** Just feel a real strong connection right now.

**Schwartz:** And that feels good?

**Kathy:** Yeah.

Schwartz: That's great.

Loren: Here.

**Schwartz:** So it's real hard for her to trust.

Kathy: Oh, yeah.

Schwartz: Yeah. So she carries a lot of feelings about that part of

Loren.

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: Is that right?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: That part is hurting her a lot, huh? Yeah. But how would it be if you really could take better care of her... so that she didn't, even if, even if Loren's part popped up at some point, she didn't feel quite so much like she'd lose everything because you'd still be there? What would that be like?

Kathy: Well, she's starting to believe that.

Schwartz: Is she?

**Kathy:** A little more, yeah. But first, I have to straighten out myself first, before she will.

Schwartz: Okay. What's happening now?

**Kathy:** I'm... I'm just sad right now that I've been gone so long. I feel a sense of coming home.

**Schwartz:** That's great. That's great. Is it okay if I ask Loren a question?

Kathy: Yeah.

Schwartz: So what's happening for you, Loren?

Loren: I know how that feels, and I want her to have that.

Schwartz: Yeah?

Loren: Yeah.

Schwartz: So you feel happy for her?

Loren: That's why we're going through therapy.

**Schwartz:** So you're feeling good about this.

Loren: Yeah, I'm feeling good.

Schwartz: Good. So. It sounds like if you can work on that wandering

part some more, that would help this little girl, huh?

Loren: I know, I know that she doesn't trust me, and that's why she

carries her guard up, and...

Schwartz: And you can understand that?

Loren: Oh yeah, I realize that. I broke her heart before, and... That's

why she is afraid to let her guard down.

Schwartz: Okay. Is there something you want to tell her about that?

Loren: I want her to believe in me, and... And trust in me, so that she

can feel that sense of coming home and feel that good feeling.

Schwartz: Good.

**Loren:** Can you do that? Can you do that?

2-40

Kathy: I'm working on it.

Loren: Okay.

Schwartz: Yeah. I mean, it seems to me that the wandering part of you is still around trying to help you and protect you in different ways. And that while that's still the case, it's pretty hard for Kathy to really

say, "I can do that." Does that sound right to you, Kathy?

Kathy: Yeah. Right.

**Schwartz:** So... And usually I can just tell you from my experience, those wandering parts are really trying to protect the part of you that feels so, you know, so abandoned and scared and lonely.

**Loren:** I'm working on that piece that, you know, that piece of me that when I get rejected, I learn how to deal with that.

**Schwartz:** Yeah. So once you get on top of that, I think it will be a lot easier.

Loren: I think that's going to be really big for me.

Schwartz: I do, too.

Loren: And I think it's a big step forward.

Schwartz: Yeah, but until then, I think it's probably fair that Kathy

keeps taking care of this little girl herself.

Loren: Absolutely. Definitely.

Schwartz: And maybe not, you know, look to you quite so much.

Loren: Right. Exactly.

**Schwartz:** Does that sound okay?

Loren: Yes. That sounds great. I'm all for it.

Schwartz: How does that sound to you, Kathy?

Kathy: Yeah.

**Schwartz:** Okay. We don't have a lot of time left, and it's been pretty emotional, so I just wanted to check and see if there's anything more that you wanted to say about what you've just been through, or that you wanted to say to Loren, or...

**Kathy:** There is something I'd like to say on that—that when you mentioned, "Can you do that?" You know, it's almost like, "Can you do that right now?" You know? And no, I can't right now. I need to see that you're dealing with that, you know—

Loren: Rejection piece?

**Kathy:** Yeah. That, that you're solid with that and you've grown with that and that you really have a handle on it, because I really, right now I don't. And that's not something I can do right away.

Loren: I understand.

Kathy: "You have the information, now use it."

Loren: Right.
Kathy: Okay?
Loren: Okay.

**Schwartz:** So that's okay with you? I mean, I have a feeling, given what you guys said earlier, that if Kathy sticks to this, there will be times where it will be hard for you, because you will feel rejected and abandoned. And you'll be pulling on her. So—

Loren: But it's going to be good for myself, though, too.

Schwartz: Yeah.

**Loren:** Not only for us, but for me, too. It's not only just for our relationship, but it's important for myself. And I was pushed as a child like that, so I think I can do that easily, work on that.

Schwartz: Okay. It may be harder than you think, but...

Loren: I'll give it a good stab.

**Schwartz:** Okay good. Okay. I'm not sure how much time we have left, but is there anything you want to know from me before we stop?

**Kathy:** When you were asking about moving those parts aside, that's something that when something's really bothering us, we could just do that on our own. We could just stop and say...

Schwartz: It's hard to do it on your own.

**Kathy:** It's hard to do it on your own.

Schwartz: Yeah.

**Kathy:** This is something that you would want to...

Schwartz: It takes practice, but it's, after you get to the point where you know them pretty well, you catch them early, then you can do it. I would say, I would warn you against trying to do anything to each other, you know. Earlier we talked about how you tried to be Kathy's therapist and "What's going on?" It's fine to talk about your own parts, but I would, at this point, advise you not to talk about each other's at all. Keep that, it's up to the other person. Does that sound fair?

Loren: Yeah.

Schwartz: Okay. Well, I think we're going to have to wrap.

Loren: Okay.

2-45

Schwartz: But I really appreciate your coming in, and I really enjoyed

my time with you. So.

Loren: Thank you. Thank you very much.

**Schwartz:** Yeah. I wish you a lot of luck. And you're in good hands.

Loren: Thanks. I appreciate it.

Kathy: Thank you.

Loren: You're welcome.

# Video Credits

# SPECIAL THANKS TO:

The clients for their time and their courage to share their personal stories so that others may learn.

Graduate students, Barbara Milton and Teresa Hannon, for their dedication to the success of this project.

The faculty and students in the Division of Psychology and Counseling of the College of Education at Governors State University for their participation.

Addison Woodward, Chair, Division of Psychology and Counseling, and Larry Freeman, Acting Dean of the College of Education at Governors State University for their support, participation and encouragement.

A very special thank you to Judy Fifer, Editor, Allyn & Bacon, for her courage and vision.

A production of Communications Services at Governors State University

Video copyright © 1998, Allyn & Bacon DVD released by Psychotherapy.net, 2009

otes

# Earn Continuing Education Credits for Watching Videos

Psychotherapy.net offers continuing education credits for watching this and other training videos. It is a simple, economical way for psychotherapists—both instructors and viewers—to earn CE credits, and a wonderful opportunity to build on workshop and classroom learning experiences.

- Visit our CE Credits section at www.psychotherapy.net to register for courses and download supplementary reading material.
- After passing a brief online post-test you will receive your Certificate of Completion via email. Voila!
- CE Approvals: Psychotherapy.net is approved to offer CE courses for psychologists, counselors, social workers, addiction treatment specialists and other mental health professionals.
- **CE Available for your Organization:** Our CE courses can be used for staff training; contact us for details.

Psychotherapy.net also offers CE Credits for reading *online psychotherapy* articles and in-depth interviews with master psychotherapists and the leading thinkers of our times.

To find out more, visit our website, www.psychotherapy.net, and click on the *CE Credits link*. Check back often, as new courses are added frequently.

# **About the Contributors**

## **VIDEO PARTICIPANTS**

Richard Schwartz, PhD, Featured Therapist, is Associate Professor at both the Institute for Juvenile Research at the University of Illinois at Chicago and The Family Institute at Northwestern University, and he maintains a private practice in Oak Park, Illinois. In 2000, he founded The Center for Self Leadership, which offers IFS training, national and international workshops for both professionals and the general public, an annual conference, publications, and video resources.

Dr. Schwartz is a fellow of the American Association for Marriage and Family Therapy and serves on the editorial boards of four professional journals. He has published several books and over fifty articles about IFS, including *Internal Family Systems Therapy, Introduction to the Internal Family Systems Model, You Are The One You've Been Waiting For, The Mosaic Mind* (with Regina Goulding), and *Metaframeworks* (with Doug Breunlin and Betty Karrer). He is also coauthor, with Michael Nichols, of *Family Therapy: Concepts and Methods*.

Jon Carlson, PsyD, EdD, Host, is Professor of Psychology and Counseling at Governors State University and a practicing clinical psychologist. He has authored 40 books and 150 journal articles, and developed over 200 videos featuring leading experts in psychotherapy, substance abuse treatment, and parenting and couples education.

**Diane Kjos, PhD,** Host, now retired, was a professor at Governors State University in Illinois for 22 years, and past-President of both the Illinois Counseling Association and the National Career Development Association. She is co-author, with John Carlson, of two textbooks—

Theories of Family Therapy, and Becoming an Effective Therapist—and co-host of the video series Psychotherapy with the Experts, Family Therapy with the Experts, and Brief Therapy Inside-out.

# MANUAL AUTHORS

**Charlotte Dick, MA**, is the Production Manager at Psychotherapy.net. She manages Psychotherapy.net's video production, website content, and monthly newsletter.

**Victor Yalom, PhD**, President of Psychotherapy.net, is a practicing psychologist, and group and couples therapist, in San Francisco, CA. He also contributes therapy cartoons to Psychotherapy.net.

# More Psychotherapy.net Videos

New videos are added frequently. Visit us at www.psychotherapy.net or call (800) 577-4762 for more information.

The Ackerman Institute Couples and Infertility

Gender Differences in Depression

**Constance Ahrons** Making Divorce Work

Ellyn Bader & Dan Wile Couples Therapy: An Introduction

Insoo Kim Berg
"I'd hear laughter"
Irreconcilable Differences

**Stephanie Brown** Treating Alcoholism in Psychotherapy

(2-DVD series)

**James Bugental** Existential-Humanistic Psychotherapy in

Action

James Bugental: Live Case Consultation

**Tian Dayton** Trauma and the Body

Healing Childhood Abuse through

Psychodrama

**Albert Ellis** Coping with the Suicide of a Loved One

Rational Emotive Behavior Therapy for

**Addictions** 

**George De Leon** The Therapeutic Community (3-DVD set)

Pamela Dunne Exploring Narradrama

George J. DuPaul & Assessing ADHD in the Schools
Gary Stoner Classroom Interventions for ADHD

**Bruce Ecker** Down Every Year: A Demonstration of Depth

Oriented Brief Therapy

John EdwardsTools and Techniques for Family TherapyStephen FeldmanLegal and Ethical Issues for Mental Health

Professionals

Arthur Freeman Cognitive Therapy for Depression

**Linda Gask** Suicide and Self-Harm **The Glendon Association** Invisible Child Abuse

Sex, Love and Intimate Relationships

Voices About Relationships

Voices of Suicide

**Kenneth V. Hardy** The Psychological Residuals of Slavery

Susan Heitler The Angry Couple

Karin Heller & Coming Out

**Bill Domonkos** 

Harville Hendrix Harville Hendrix on the Healing Relationship

Evan Imber-Black Family Secrets

Satsuki Ina Children of the Camps

Arnold Lazarus: Live Case Consultation **Arnold Lazarus** 

Steve Lerner She's Leaving Me

Effective Psychotherapy with Men Ronald Levant Hanna Levenson Time-Limited Dynamic Psychotherapy Marco J. D. Maida Jacob Levy Moreno: His Life and His Muses Rollo Mav Rollo May on Existential Psychotherapy

Monica McGoldrick The Legacy of Unresolved Loss Mixed Anxiety and Depression: Donald Meichenbaum Scott Miller What Works in Psychotherapy **Iacob Moreno** Moreno Movies (4-DVD series)

Zerka T. Moreno The Zerka T. Moreno Series (3-DVD series)

Rod Mullen **Encounter Groups for Addictions** 

(3-DVD set)

Explaining PTSD Frank Ochberg

PTSD and Veterans The Counting Method

Connecting with Our Kids George Papageorge

**Erving Polster** Psychotherapy with the Unmotivated Patient Ron Scott (Producer)

Psychotherapy with Gay, Lesbian and

Bisexual Clients (7-DVD series)

Martin Seligman Positive Psychology and Psychotherapy

Lenore Walker The Abused Woman Irvin Yalom The Gift of Therapy

Irvin Yalom: Live Case Consultation Understanding Group Psychotherapy

(3-DVD series)

Therapeutic Communities in Prisons Harry Wexler

### COUPLES THERAPY WITH THE EXPERTS SERIES

Jon Carlson & Mary Arnold Culture-Sensitive Therapy

Emotionally Focused Couples Therapy Sue Johnson

Pat Love Imago Couples Therapy Experiential Therapy Gus Napier Richard Schwartz Couples Therapy

#### BRIEF THERAPY FOR ADDICTIONS SERIES

**Bruce S. Liese** *Cognitive Therapy for Addictions* 

**G. Alan Marlatt** Harm Reduction Therapy for Addictions

Barbara S. McCrady
William R. Miller
John C. Norcross
Robert E. Wubbolding

Couples Therapy for Addictions
Motivational Interviewing
Stages of Change for Addictions
Reality Therapy for Addictions

Joan Ellen Zweben Integrating Therapy with 12-Step Program

#### CHILD THERAPY WITH THE EXPERTS SERIES

Jon CarlsonAdlerian Parent ConsultationJanet Sasson EdgetteAdolescent Family Therapy

**Gerald Koocher** Psychotherapy with Medically Ill Children

**Terry Kottman** Adlerian Play Therapy

Stephen Madigan
Bruce Masek
John J. Murphy
Violet Oaklander
David Scharff
Anin Utigaard
Robert E. Wubbolding

Narrative Therapy with Children
Cognitive-Behavioral Child Therapy
Solution-Focused Child Therapy
Gestalt Therapy with Children
Object Relations Child Therapy
Reality Therapy with Children

#### PSYCHOTHERAPY WITH THE EXPERTS SERIES

**Insoo Kim Berg** Solution Focused Therapy

James Bugental Existential-Humanistic Psychotherapy

Jon CarlsonAdlerian TherapyMary GouldingTransactional AnalysisKenneth V. HardyFamily Systems TherapyAllen IveyIntegrative TherapyJeffrey KottlerIntegrative Counseling

John Krumboltz Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy

**Arnold Lazarus** Multimodal Therapy

**Donald Meichenbaum** Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy

Natalie Rogers Person-Centered Expressive Arts Therapy

Ernest Rossi Mind-Body Therapy
Jill Savege Scharff Object Relations Therapy

**Lenore Walker** Feminist Therapy Robert E. Wubbolding Reality Therapy